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ABSTRACT

Re-excavation of two stone-built houses and associated midden deposits identified a farming
community of the later fourth millennium Bc, attributable to the makers of Unstan ware, and yielded
extensive information about the contemporary natural environment.

INTRODUCTION

The island of Papa Westray is one of the northernmost islands of the Orkney group, with the
open Atlantic to the NW and Fair Isle and the Shetlands to the NE. The island is almost 7 km
long and 2 km wide, and it rises to a maximum height of only 48 m OD at the N end where there
are steep cliffs; elsewhere it consists of gently rolling and very fertile fields. A visitor at the begin-
ning of the 19th century described Papa Westray as

a beautiful little island... Never did our eyes behold richer tracts of natural clover, red and
white, than in this island. The soil is good, and was at this time clothed with abundant crops of

oats, bear [bere, six-row barley] and potatoes ... We left with regret, as we believe every visitant
must do (Neill 1806, 41, 44).

The bedrock of the island belongs to the Rousay Flags group of Middle Old Red Sandstone
rocks and provides excellent building material. The presence on the Holm of Papa Westray, a tiny
island just off the E coast of Papa Westray, of three Neolithic chambered tombs is eloquent
witness to the attraction of the fertile loamy soils of the area to early settlers.

Knap of Howar lies on the W coast of Papa Westray (NGR HY 483 518), among the modern
pasturelands of Holland farm (fig 1, pl 2a). The NE coast of the island of Westray is only 1-9 km
away, across Papa Sound where the sea-bed rises to a depth of no more than 7 m; the topography
of Orkney is characterized by its drowned appearance (Miller 1976, 29), and it is possible that
Papa Sound hides a submerged beach-flat linking Papa Westray with Westray.

The name Knap of Howar (sometimes spelled Hower; the form used on OS maps is here
preferred) is derived from ON howe or mound and ON knapp-r, knob or cap. This somewhat
tautologous name describes the site prior to excavation, when the houses were buried beneath
2:5m of windblown sand. Preserved in this way, the walls of the houses have survived to a
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remarkable height of 1-62 m maximum, and the lintel slabs roofing both the entrance passages
and the side passage joining the two houses were still in position at the time of the first excavation.

PREVIOUS EXCAVATION

The entrance into house 1 was first uncovered in 1929 (p] 2b), but the presence of an extensive
midden, revealed by coastal erosion, had been known for some years. Excavation of the two houses was
carried out in the early 1930s by the landowner, William Traill, and by William Kirkness (Traill &
Kirkness 1937); their report to the Society of Antiquaries of Scotland in 1937 was illustrated by a 16 mm
silent film, shot after the completion of the excavation. In some respects, the account published in the
Inventory of the Ancient Monuments of Orkney and Shetland (RCAMS 1946, no 524) is more detailed in
its description of the houses than the Traill and Kirkness excavation report.

The method adopted in the early excavation was to clear out the sand filling the interior of the
two houses and then to follow the exterior face of the walls with a narrow trench which did not penetrate
below the base of the walls, although the presence of underlying midden was noted. A large number of
photographs was taken during the excavation, the negatives of which have been deposited in the National
Monuments Record of Scotland; these were of considerable help in re-excavating the site. The surviving
finds from the original excavation, none of which can be provenanced exactly within the site, are listed
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separately in the catalogue, along with artefacts found before and after that excavation (nos E-I (pottery
catalogue), 228-54).

None of the artefacts was sufficiently diagnostic to provide secure dating evidence, and an Iron Age
context was suggested on the grounds of similarities in architecture and artefacts with Orcadian brochs
(Traill & Kirkness 1937, 314), although it is clear from the surviving correspondence that Mr Traill’s
private opinion favoured a Neolithic date. (The attribution of rotary querns to the site which crept into
subsequent literature is a myth which appears to have originated in Marwick 1952, 30.) The site was taken
into State guardianship in 1937, when a sea-wall was built to prevent further erosion and minor consoli-
dation of the house-walls was carried out.

Re-excavation of a site partially dug more than 40 years previously involves a certain amount of
detective work, in this case facilitated by the existence of a photographic record unusually full for its
time; less happily, re-excavation also means the frustration of questions for which there can never be
answers, In terms of artefacts, it is likely that most of the small finds and other domestic refuse found in
the early excavation belong to Period II, because Traill and Kirkness did not, to any extent, explore either
the underlying midden or the material forming the wall-core of the surviving houses.

DESCRIPTION OF BUILDINGS

For convenience, the two buildings are here labelled house 1 and house 2, but the term
‘house’ is not used in a strictly functional sense; it is likely that neither building fulfilled a single
function, although house 1 may have been predominantly a dwelling-house while house 2 was
probably used as a workshop and for storage. As the superstructure of both these buildings was
uncovered during the previous excavation and subsequently conserved, their basic form will be
described before an account is given of the recent excavations.

HOUSE 1

This is the larger and southerly of the two buildings, which, even in 1929, was in a better state of
preservation than house 2, It is rectilinear in plan-form with rounded corners, and the quality of drystone
walling is very good; the wall is faced with stone both internally and externally, with a core of midden
material, and it survives to a maximum height of 1-62 m along the N side. The average width of the wall is
1-5 m, but it widens to 17 m at the main entrance in order to create a long draught-proof passage-way,
0-75 m wide. The entrance passage is paved with two and roofed with three large stone slabs, and the
paving is overlapped on either side by the drystone walls of the passage-way. The roofing-slabs were
laid to abut one another at a height of 1-:3 m above the floor, flush with the outer wall-face and with the
door-checks at the inner end. This inner doorway is furnished with long upright slabs forming checks and
jambs, and with a low sill-stone between the checks (pl 3a). The door itself was presumably portable,
made of wood or animal skins stretched on a wooden frame, and it would have been closed against the
checking slabs, held by a bar. The jambs are now broken at a low level, but in the 1930s they were com-
plete and ‘notched as if to admit small bars’ (RCAMS 1946, 182-3).

A smaller passage-way (B) through the N wall leads into house 2 at a point where the walls of the
two buildings abut one another. Its roof has been reconstructed at a height of 1-03 m with three lintel
slabs, but there must originally have been four, allowing for the collapse at the house 2 end. The passage
is 0-7 m wide between drystone walls which, at the house 1 end, were faced on either side by a large
upright stone jamb. The door appears to have been at the N end of the passage in house 2, where there
are slab checks and jambs. The passage was only roughly paved and there were no sill-stones.

The interior of house 1 is divided into two rooms, 5-0 by 5-3 m and 4-5 by 4-6 m, by a stone partition.
The larger compartment (1a) is furnished with a low bench or platform along the S wall, ¢ 0-18 m high
at its kerb formed by three long slabs laid flat. The interior of the platform consisted of irregular slabs and
sand, and it is divided into two by an upright slab set at right angles to the house-wall and surviving to a
height of 0-6 m; a similar slab may originally have bounded the W end of the platform. The floor was
partially paved in front of the two passage-ways and in the centre of the room where a hollow in the
natural subsoil required levelling.

The stone partition consists of four upright stone slabs; two are set partially into the house-wall
and survive incomplete to heights of 1-61 m on the N and 1-24 m on the S, while the other two, each
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intact and 0-68 m high, are set on either side of the entrance into the inner compartment. The entrance is
further defined on the E side by two low slabs, 0-2 m high (a third slab shown on earlier plans was not an
original feature, Traill & Kirkness 1937, fig 1; RCAMS 1946, fig 268).

A massive trough quern (no 225) stands in the inner room (1b), though not precisely in its ongmal
position; ‘two rubbing-stones and a quantity of broken razor-shell’ were found beside the quern (RCAMS
1946, 183). The floor deposit, undisturbed until 1973, will be described in the next section. There was a
small recess built into the N wall at a height of 0-9 m above the floor (this section of wall including the
recess was dismantled and re-built in 1975); it measured 0-64 m wide, 0-38 m high and 0-44-0-55 m deep,
with its lintel and sill each formed by a single slab.

It is possible that there once existed a paved annexe or porch outside the main entrance into house 1,
although no trace of this feature now survives. A short length of walling extended westwards at right
angles to the wall of the house, on the N side of the entrance (Traill & Kirkness 1937, 310-11, fig 1), and
the area in front of the entrance was paved. Erosion had destroyed most of the feature, and only ¢ 1-:2m
of the wall survived to a height of some eight courses (visible on 1929 photograph); it was not bonded
into the house wall. If this were a porch, it would find parallels among Neolithic houses in Shetland.

HOUSE 2

This building had not survived in such good condition as house 1, perhaps because its wall was
inherently weaker as a result of all the recesses built into it. The overall plan-form is rectilinear with
rounded corners, but the internal area, measuring 7-5 by 2-6-3-6 m, is divided into three compartments
(pl 6a). The wall is again built with fine drystone facings and a midden core, ¢ 1:0 m thick widening to
1-3 m at the main W entrance. Although the two houses abut at the adjoining passage-way, there is no
evidence of any attempt to bond the two walls; the house 2 end of the passage-way has already been des-
cribed. The main (W) entrance is now much reduced in height, although at least the innermost lintel was
still in position in the early 1930s, at a height of just over 1-0 m, flush with the door-checks; the door was
again at the inner end of the passage, where there are broken slab jambs and checks but no sill-stone.
Excavation in 1975 showed that the paving of the passage, like that in house 1, was overlapped on either
side by the passage-walls. The passage is 1-3 m long and 0-6 m wide. The internal wall-face to either side
of the main entrance shows a use of post-and-panel technique not found elsewhere on the site: at a dis-
tance of ¢ 0-3 m from the door-jamb on either side is an upright stone ‘post’, 0-86 m high on the N and
0-80 m high on the S, with a ‘panel’ of drystone walling between jamb and ‘post’ (pl 6b; partially collapsed
on S).

The subdividing partitions in house 2 mirror that in house 1, each consisting of two pairs of thin
upright flagstones. The partition between the outer and middle compartments has not survived well; both
of the slabs set partially into the house-wall are severely reduced in size, but the inner slabs appear to be
complete, that to the N being 0-76 m high and that to the S an unusually thick pillar 0-5 m high. There are
two recesses in the S wall of the middle compartment, both of which had collapsed and have been re-
built, and a rough stone bench lined the N wall (this feature will be discussed in the next section). The
partition between the middle and inner-most compartments has no gaps between the two slabs forming
each pair of uprights, and the inner slabs are unusually tall. On the N side, the slab set into the house-wall
is 1-0 m high, while its neighbour is 1-14 m high, and on the E side, the slab set into the wall is 1:2 m high
and the inner slab is 1-39 m high. The function of these partitions will be discussed in a later section.

The innermost room is intensively furnished with wall-recesses and would appear to have functioned
as a storage area: five cupboards or storage cells have been created within the thickness of the house-wall
at ground level, and, in the S wall, there are three recesses set into the wall at a height of ¢ 0-45 m above
the floor. The ground-level cupboards, running clockwise from N to S, measure respectively 0-95 m long
by 0-8 m deep and 0-8 m in height, 0-75 by 0-5 m and 0-8 m in height (paved), 0-8 by 0-5 m and 0-65 m in
height (secondarily almost filled with drystone walling perhaps in an attempt to counter instability),
0-75 m by 0-4 m and 0-7 m in height, and 0-3 by 0-5 m and 0-77 m in height. They are built with upright
slabs and roofed with stone lintels. Immediately to the E of the N partition, there is a low stone kerb
formed by a single upright slab, 0-26 m high, delimiting a small compartment within the house. The wall-
recesses in the S wall are all about 0-4 m deep and high and, clockwise, measure 0-3, 0-25 and 0-4 m wide.

Traill and Kirkness excavated two small pits in the floor of the inner-most compartment, one con-
taining animal bones and a hammerstone and covered by a stone slab, and the other interpreted as a well
(1937, 312). The latter, centrally placed, might be better regarded as a large posthole, thus explaining the
presence of chocking stones in a pit ¢ 0:25 m deep; it is certainly not a source of water.
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The closing phases of the history of the two buildings are obscure. Traill and Kirkness found both
doorways into house 2 to have been deliberately blocked up (1937, 311), and they appear not to have
removed much of the blocking material. To judge by the unpublished Kirkness photographs, the blocking
of the passage (B) adjoining house 1 took place after there had been a certain amount of collapse in that
area of house 2; the horizontal slabs forming the blocking were clearly laid on top of a mass of tumbled
stones extending over much of the outermost compartment, Only the house 2 doorway into the passage
was blocked and the rest was left clear, perhaps to use as storage space. The lintel-stones over the main
entrance and the upper blocking of both doorways collapsed or were removed subsequent to the early
excavation. It may well be that house 2 was abandoned and blocked off during the lifetime of house 1,
owing to the instability and partial collapse of its walls.

It is clear from the old photographs that both buildings and especially house 2 contained a large
quantity of tumbled walling, sometimes lying as if stacked at an angle where sections of wall face had
fallen inwards. Together with the slightly corbelled effect still apparent in the upper courses of the wall of
house 1, this suggests that the roofs may have been formed by a combination of partial corbelling at the
wall-heads and timber frame-work.

It would seem that both houses had been abandoned and were in a ruinous state before they were
covered over by blown sand. Traill and Kirkness noticed a substantial turf-line at the level of the top of
the house walls, after which there had been a build-up of some 2-5 m of sand (1937, 314). This same turf-
line was found in trench II, truncated close to the S wall of house 1 by the old excavation trench (fig 4)
and sealing a pit in which a cow had been buried, and it is likely to correlate with similar turf-lines sealed
between sand-blows in trench III and test pit 4. Averaging 0-11 m thick, this turf-line represents a stable
period of some length, but there is no evidence as to when it took place.

EXCAVATION

The Department of the Environment (now Scottish Development Department, Ancient
Monuments) sponsored further excavation at Knap of Howar in 1973 and 1975 with the dual
objectives of preparing the houses for the consolidation work required by collapsed or sagging
walls and of obtaining cultural and chronological evidence with which to set the site in its true
context. House 1 was re-excavated and two areas of midden to the S were examined in a three-
week season in 1973, and house 2 was re-excavated together with adjacent areas of midden in a
four-week season in 1975, when a series of test pits was also excavated in order to determine the
total extent of the midden (fig 2).

The basic stratigraphy of the site is simple and indicates two main periods of activity. A
layer of midden some 0-4 m thick represents the primary phase but, apart from the remains of
stone paving to the S of house 1, there was no trace in the excavated areas of any contemporary
structure (Period I). The two surviving houses were then built into and on top of the primary
midden, and an upper layer of midden deposits represents contemporary domestic refuse (Period
II). Both the archaeological evidence and the radiocarbon dates indicate that there was no
cultural and no significant chronological difference between these two main periods: the site
represents the remains of a small Neolithic farmstead belonging to people who used Unstan ware
during the period approximately 3500-3100 scC.

Samples of soil from each midden deposit and floor level were wet sieved in the sea; aside
from the problems of bringing fresh water to the site, there was a water shortage on the island.
The target sample was 50 kg from each deposit, but some layers were too small to yield that total
in which case the entire deposit was sieved, using wire baskets with meshes of 3 and 1-5 mm,

PERIOD I, LOWER MIDDEN

The lower midden was traced in trenches II, III, IV, V and VI and in the core of the later
house-walls. In trench 111, the lower midden (layer 111, 4) was distinguishable in character from
the upper midden (layer III, 3) by containing less shell and being lighter in colour and texture,
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but in trench II, where the midden was uniformly damp, clayey in texture and dark grey in
colour, the division between the upper (layer II, 3) and lower midden (layer I1, 11) was necessarily
arbitrary. The stratigraphy in the area immediately adjacent to the S wall of house 1 had been
destroyed by the earlier excavation (fig 4), but it was assumed, on analogy with the evidence
elsewhere on the site, that the outer wall-face had been built on top of the earlier midden rather
than dug into it, and therefore the division between upper and lower midden was arbitrarily
fixed at the level of the base of the wall. This decision was supported by the absence of any
cultural divisions apparent in the artefactual content both of midden and houses and, with
hindsight, by the uniformity of the overall chronological pattern provided by radiocarbon deter-
minations.

Even allowing for this artificial division, there is enough evidence to show that the lower
midden was a fairly standard 0-4 m deep, tapering off to the E of the houses where the level of the
subsoil rose. It is possible that the level surface of the midden relates to the construction of the
houses, for it is unlikely that the area cleared of midden within the houses provided sufficient
material for their wall-cores, and additional material must have been obtained from the midden
outside. At the same time, it should be noted that a level surface was maintained on the upper
midden as well, suggesting that this was a desirable end in itself, perhaps to allow small-scale
intensive cultivation.
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Within the restricted areas explored, the only structural remains attributable to Period I
were the fragmentary paving, upright stone and grooves left by the removal of two upright stones
found at the base of the lower midden in trench II (fig 2). There were no traces within the interiors
of houses 1 and 2 to suggest ti.at they had replaced earlier structures on the same spot, and it is
likely that the major structures of Period I lay to the S or W of the extant houses. It is difficult to
estimate how much of the western part of the site has been destroyed by coastal erosion.

Period I artc act assemblage

Comparison of the artefact assemblages recovered from the two main periods underlines their
cultural homogeneity; there are some differences but little weight can be placed on them. Amongst the
pottery, there is slightly more diversity of form and decoration in Period I, but this may relate to the fact
that more pottery was recovered from the primary midden than from secondary contexts, a fact that may
itself reflect the greater volume of excavated primary midden. Thirty-five bone and stone artefacts (ex-
cluding flint) were recovered, including the stone axe (no 199), the whalebone spatula (no 167), one whale-
bone and one antler hammer (nos 170, 189), and four stone borers (nos 190-193). The artefacts from both
periods will be discussed together in a later section.

PERIOD II, HOUSES 1 AND 2 AND UPPER MIDDEN

The degree to which the two buildings had been cleared out internally in the 1930s varied
from almost complete in the W compartment of house 1 to superficial in the middle and W
compartments of house 2. Undisturbed floor deposits were unmistakeable, contrasting in colour
and texture with the clean sand filling the houses after their abandonment, and it would seem that
Traill and Kirkness were primarily interested in the superstructure. It was possible to distinguish
both on archaeological grounds and from the visual record of Kirkness’s photographs the extent
of the earlier disturbance.

House 1 (fig 3)

Very little trace of the original floor deposit survived in the W compartment (1a), except
between the paving stones and in the passage-way adjoining house 2; it consisted of compacted,
dirty brown sand with a scattered trampling of charcoal (spruce or larch, sample A, appendix 9)
and small patches of dark grey-brown midden (layer 1a, 2). To judge by the number of artefacts
found in the remanent layer of floor deposit, 0-33 m thick in the adjoining passage (layers 1, 4 and
2, 2), this deposit was rich in artefacts: nos 102, 129, 130, 145, 152, 153, 165 and 223 all came from
this small area. It is likely that some at least of the floor deposit in passage B post-dates the
blocking up of its N end, when the open S end remained accessible from house 1. Beneath this
layer of brown sand lay a paved floor, the irregular character of which was quite unlike the
meticulous paving of the two main entrance passages. Also unlike the latter, the slabs did not
extend beneath the side-walls of the passage. Between and on top of the paving-stones was a
primary floor deposit consisting of dark grey-brown organic soil with a clayey texture (layer 1a, 6).

The floor deposit in the inner E compartment (1b) was very different from that in the outer
compartment and must reflect a difference in function between the two rooms. There was no
paving in this part of the house, and the surface of the natural boulder clay was covered in a
layer, 0-02 m thick, of dark grey-brown occupation material of a fine and almost greasy texture
(layer 1b, 2). The central hearth consisted of a shallow ash-filled hollow, ¢ 0:80 m in diameter
and up to 0-09 m deep (layer 1b, 5); it proved impossible to identify the fuel burnt (samples H and
I, appendix 9) (pl 3b). The ash extended into several smaller adjoining hollows, and it also filled a
small pit (Ib, 7). A small hollow (S) to the N of the hearth contained a roughly made small pot
(no 57) and was covered over by a large rimsherd (no 61); this phenomenon was also encountered
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in house 2. There were other shallow hollows in the natural clay surface round the perimeter of the
inner compartment, including a longitudinal groove and three transverse grooves which may
represent bedding slots for a wooden bench along the N wall. There were also two transverse
grooves on the S side of the compartment, again stopping short of the inner face of the wall and
therefore likely to relate to the house rather than to an earlier period. These grooves were a wide
U-shape in section and averaged 30-50 mm in depth. The floor deposit (1b, 2) had spilled over
into these grooves, but its depth decreased from the central hearth area outwards and did not
extend E of an approximate line between pit 7 and the NE transverse groove. It was impossible
to be certain how close the great quern (no 225) was to its original position; it overlay part of one
of the S transverse grooves, which would imply, if it were still in situ as discovered in the early
1930s, that the groove, whatever its function, belonged to an earlier phase in the occupation of the
house. In view of the unequivocal evidence for two phases of occupation in house 2, a similar
sequence might well have existed in house 1, but the evidence no longer survived.

From the very imperfect archaeological record remaining in house 1, it would appear that
the two compartments fulfilled different functions, the inner compartment acting as a work area
although its hearth undoubtedly warmed the entire building. The low stone partition between the
two compartments separated floor areas rather than living space. The pit (1b, 7) lay on the
central long axis of the house and may originally have held a roof-support: it could have con-
tained a post up to ¢ 0-15m in diameter. An equivalent post in the outer compartment could
have stood on a pad-stone, thereby leaving no obvious trace on the paved floor.

The gaps between the upright slabs bonded into the house-walls and the inner low partition
slabs were occupied originally by wooden posts. Postholes X and Y were wedged by chocking-
stones and could have held posts up to 0-25 m in diameter, but the post-pipe surviving in posthole
X would indicate a post of about ¢ 0-12 m in diameter. These posts would have been so close to
the house-walls that they are likely to have helped to support the corbelled slabs at the wall-head
rather than the roof itself, although it is also possible that they supported a cross-beam at wall-
head level. Small fragments of wood and charcoal were retrieved from the filling of posthole X;
the wood was not identifiable but the charcoal proved to be some sort of conifer (appendix 9,
sample O).

Two sections of the wall of house 1 were dismantled and excavated, one on the S side of the
inner compartment where collapse had occurred, and one on the corresponding N side where
eventual collapse was inevitable (pl 4a). In both sections, the wall was found to consist of a
double skin of good drystone walling, one stone thick, with redeposited midden forming the core.
The inner wall-face was laid directly on the surface of the natural boulder clay, while the outer
face was laid on top of the lower midden, so that there was a difference of some 0-35 m between
the levels of the two basal courses (pl 4¢c). It was evident that the house-builders had cleared an
area of the existing midden approximately the size required for the floor-space of the house and
had in effect revetted the midden with the inner wall-face. The cleared midden was then used as
wall-core to create a solid and weatherproof structure on average 1-5 m wide overall.

In both the S and N walls, there were patches of sand at the junction between the midden
filling the walls (layers 1, 9 and 1, 14) and the underlying midden on which the walls were built
(layers 1, 11 and 1, 16). In addition, there was a large patch of clayey midden at the junction
beneath the S wall.

House 2

Once this house had been re-excavated to the level left after the earlier excavation, the
immediate problem was to elucidate the structure against the N wall in the middle compartment
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FiG 5 Plans and sections of postholes and sections of hearths: posthole X, posthole Y, posthole Z, hearth 5, hearth
10, hearth 11, pit 7

described by Traill and Kirkness as ‘slabs and very rough masonry of a later occupation® (1937,
312). Although Traill and Kirkness had subsequently tidied it up, photographs taken by Kirkness
during their excavation show quite clearly that this irregular pile of stones and loose midden
material had been the result of the upper part of the N wall collapsing prior to the house becoming
filled with sand. On earlier plans (Traill & Kirkness 1937, fig 1; RCAMS 1946, fig 268), this
feature has been reduced to two upright slabs and a block of masonry, implying a side compart-
ment or kerb along the wall, but the feature with its rubble filling was not in fact dismantled in the
earlier excavations, and, although there were upright slabs as depicted, they were not earth-fast
and represented no more than tumbled stones. Nevertheless, beneath the mass of collapsed
walling, there were up to three courses of properly laid stones forming a rough kind of bench up
to 1-0 m wide and 2-4 m long (fig 3, 4; pl 5a), which was contemporary with the upper floor level
(layer 2, 7). Two of the pitted grinding stones were found on this low stone bench (nos 196, 198).
It may have replaced an earlier wooden bench, because there were grooves in the primary clay
floor surface (fig 3) similar to those found in house 1.

As in house 1, a posthole (Z) was found in the gap between the NW partition slabs dividing
the outer compartment from the middle compartment (2a and b), but no trace could be discovered
of a corresponding posthole between the SW pair of slabs (this areca was, however, severely
disturbed). Posthole Z could have held a post ¢ 0-12 m in diameter.
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Entry into the middle compartment between the central partition slabs was lined, as in
house 1, by two recumbent slabs, the angle of the S slab suggesting that it had been displaced by
collapsing walling.

Perhaps because of the problems posed by collapsed walling, the blocking in both entrance
passages and the block of masonry in the middle compartment, house 2 was not cleared in the
early excavations as thoroughly as house 1. Only the innermost compartment (2c) with its shelves
and cupboards was almost entirely emptied ~ and it is noteworthy that no artefacts were ap-
parently found in any of these presumptive storage facilities, suggesting that the original aban-
donment of the house was a deliberate and unhurried decision. Even here, the floor deposit was
virtually intact, consisting of 2040 mm of dark brown, fairly clean soil with some ash trampled
in from the next compartment. Little new structural information was obtained about this inner-
most compartment: the floor of one cupboard was paved with a single large slab (cracked in
antiquity); the floor throughout house 2, as in house 1, was the natural boulder clay subsoil.

In the middle compartment (2b), there survived a depth of up to 200 mm of floor deposit,
dark brown to red-black in colour, fine greasy texture and containing a large proportion of ash
from the hearths. There were two distinct layers of floor deposit, separated by a thin scattering of
sand, and they corresponded broadly with two different hearths (pl 5b). The primary hearth (2,
11) was approximately square, 0-65-0-70 m internally, and was both kerbed and paved with stone
slabs; there were two layers of paving, of which the lower comprised oddly massive boulders. A
large stone on the immediate E side of the hearth may have been part of the hearth furniture,
either as a seat or a work surface, and four shallow hollows, 30-60 mm deep, in the clay floor on
the S and W sides of the hearth may have been designed to hold steady round-based pots. (Once
the occupation deposit began to accumulate, there would be no problem in wedging pots upright.)
A flint scraper (no 226, 6) was found in the hollow on the S side, and another (no 226, 9) in the
hearth itself together with a broken awl (no 133). The primary floor deposit (layer 2, 12) associated
with hearth 11 was up to 70 mm thick, and contained few artefacts: a broken stone disc or ‘pot-
lid’ (no 217) and, in a hollow (2b, 16) 120 mm deep, a scapula blade (no 166).

In contrast to the primary hearth, hearth 10 was simply a hollow in the upper floor deposit
(layer 2, 7), though more contained than the similar hearth in house 1. It was approximately
09 m in diameter and up to 80 mm deep, and a slightly dished boulder nearby may have been
associated with it as a seat. Although the upper floor deposit was up to 100 mm thick, hearth
10 can have been associated only with the later period of its accumulation, since it was scooped
into the floor deposit, and it is likely that hearth 11 remained in use during the earlier build-up
of the upper floor level.

Some of the ash-rich floor deposit extended into the outer compartment (2a), but for the
most part the floor here consisted of dark grey-brown humic sand (layer 2, 6), which was also
found in the passage adjoining house 1 (=layer 1, 6). Finds included a large portion of a pottery
vessel (no 64). A third grinding stone was found in front of the passage entrance (no 197). The
paving in the passage extended into the outer compartment of house 2.

The passage appeared to have been partially blocked in the first instance by irregular
collapsed walling at the entrance in house 2, and the task completed by deliberate drystone
walling (visible on the old photographs but no longer extant in 1973). In contrast, the main
entrance into house 2 had been deliberately blocked from the start, using large oblong boulders
piled in such a way as to suggest that they had been inserted from outside the house (pl 7b).
Between the blocking stones was some redeposited midden (layer 2, 3). The entrance-passage
had been paved with four large slabs, overlain by the side-walls as in passage A. Unlike the latter,
the outer paving-slab extended beyond the passage itself, and there was no inner sill-stone. The
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innermost paving-slab partially filled a shallow hollow in the clay subsoil (2a, 14), which also
contained a nondescript sherd of pottery (SF 868) and half a sheep’s jawbone. Trench IV was
opened outside the entrance into house 2 in order to check for any external structures, but none
was found. It was also designed to elucidate the relationship between the two houses at the point
where they joined. ,

RCAMS pointed out two pieces of evidence suggesting that house 1 was built earlier than
house 2: the joint between their walls in the linking passage is not bonded, and the wall-face of
house 1 is smooth at that point, whereas that of house 2 is roughly built (1946, 184). Supporting
evidence for the primacy of house 1 is provided by a thin lens of sand found in trench IV to
underlie the outer face of house 2 but not the adjacent face of house 1. Nevertheless, as RCAMS
noted, the passage linking the two houses was an integral part of the design of house 1, and it is
likely that there was no lengthy chronological gap in the sequence of their construction.

The post-and-panel technique employed internally at the entrance into house 2, its partial
subsequent collapse and the blocking of the entrance prompted investigation of the house-wall
on either side of the entrance, in case multi-period construction had been involved. Traces of
jointing in the side-walls of the passage appeared to confirm this possibility. The outer wall-face
on either side of the entrance was crude in comparison to house 1, but only two courses survived.
Within the wall, there appeared to be an inner wall-face, particularly to the immediate N of the
entrance, but its combination with the use of upright radial slabs pointed to a comparison with
the cairn construction of tombs (eg Bigland Round, ORK 2, Henshall 1963, 183) rather than
to support for the notion of multi-period construction of the entrance-passage (pl 7b). This
aspect of the construction of the houses will be discussed later, because it is one of a series of
architectural traditions shared with Orkney—-Cromarty tombs.

One section of the wall of house 2 was excavated, on the S side of the middle compartment
where the wall had collapsed (pl 4c). The structure of the wall was identical to that of house 1,
with the inner face laid directly on clay and the outer on the earlier midden, a core of redeposited
midden (layer 2, 5) and an overall width of 0-9 m. The outer face of part of the N wall was exposed
in trench V (pl 4b).

The trench dug round the exterior wall-faces of the houses by Traill and Kirkness had not
entirely destroyed the stratigraphical evidence for the relationship of the houses to the midden.
It was clear from trench V that very little midden material had been dumped to the immediate N
of house 2 after the latter’s construction (fig 4); here the lower midden (layer V, 4) is clearly
separated from the upper (layer V, 2) by a thin layer of sand. Trench VI revealed that here the
outer wall-face of house 1 virtually coincided with the E perimeter of the lower midden.

Apart from the occasional discrete dump of shells (appendix 8), there was no hint in either
the primary or the secondary midden of localized debris from any particular activity.

Period II artefact assemblage

Amongst the pottery there are more elaborate rim forms and a little evidence of flat bases, but
otherwise the fabrics and vessels remain the same as in the earlier period. The 56 bone and stone artefacts
(excluding flint) include twice as many bone awls and points, two scapula ‘knives’ (nos 165, 166), the
whalebone ‘knife’ (no 171), a possible whalebone ‘hoe’ (no 172), two stone borers (nos 194, 195), and all
three grinding stones (nos 196-198). Apart from a notable concentration of flints in the floor deposit in the
inner compartment of house 1, there were fewer artefacts from house 1 than from house 2, reflecting the
difference in preservation of their respective floor levels. House 2 yielded 28 bone and stone artefacts, 14
flints, 20 deposits of pottery and eight pieces of pumice, mostly from the upper floor deposit (layer 2, 7)
in the central compartment.

The 1930s photographs show clearly that small finds and animal bones encountered during the






